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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 14ev-22855GAYLES

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, et al.,
ex rel. SUSAN BROWN and DAVID STONE,
Plaintiff s-Relators,

V.

BANKUNITED TRUST 2005-1, et al.,
Defendans.

ORDER
THIS CAUSE comes before the Court diefendantsMotion to DismissRelators’
Second Amended Complaint [ECF No. 228] (the “Joint Motigii&d by Defendant®ankUnited
Financial Corporation (“BUFC”); BankUnited, N.A. (“BankUnitedBricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP (“PwC");* Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargg®)Wells Fargo Delaware Trust Company,
N.A. (“Wells Fargo Delaware?Y U.S. Bank, N.A. (“U.S. Bank’f Bank of New York Mellon
Corporation (“BNY Mellon”}*> Wilmington Trust Compan$Carrington Mortgage Services, LLC

(“Carringon”); JPMorgan Chase &o. (“JPMorgan”) EMC Mortgage LLC f/k/a EMC Mortgage

Named in the Second Amended Complaint as “Price Waterhouse.”

Including in its capacity as former trustee for a trust preferred sedeitiified in the Second Amended Complaint
as Preferred Trust X. Wells Fargo arously named in the SecoAdnended Complaint as “Wells Fargo Bank,”
“Wells Fargo Trustee, Secured Asset Mortgage Investments I, Inc.,” artls'Bargo Trustee, Mortgage Pass
Through Certificates Series 2045’

Solely in its capacity as former Delaware Trustee under a trafdnped security identified in the Secofchended
Complaint asPreferred Trust X

Including in its capacity as former trustee for trust preferred securésirgfé by BankUnited Financial Corporation
identified in the Second Amended Complaint as “USBank Trustee, FBS Preferred IIl,” “USBank Trustee,

FBO Trust Preferred IV,” “USBank Trustee, FBO Trust Preferred V,” “U8BBrustee, FBO Trust Preferred VI,”
and “USBank Trustee, FBO Trust Preferred VII.”

Individually and in its alleged capaci&g Trustee, Convertible Senior Hi Meds.

In its capacity as former Trustee under certain trust documents and purpoaedg in the Second Amended
Complaint as “Wilmington Trust Company, Trust Preferred VIWilmington Trust Company, Trust Preferred
VIII,” and “Wilmington Trust Company, Trust Preferred.rX

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/florida/flsdce/1:2014cv22855/446318/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/florida/flsdce/1:2014cv22855/446318/299/
https://dockets.justia.com/

Corporation (“EMC"); Structured Asset Mortgage Investments Il Inc. (“SAMI A"Humberto

L. Lopez; Ramiro A. Ortiz; and Alfred R. Carer, as well as osupplementamotions todismiss

and supplemental memoranda in support of motions to dismiss filed by various Defendaiks indivi
ually.® The Court has reviewed the operative Complaint and exhibits attached thereto,i¢isé part
briefs, andhe applicable law and is otherwise fully advised in the premises.

The Relators in this case, Susan Brown and David Stone (the “Relators”), briggithis
tamactionclaimingviolations of the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. § 3723 andseveral
stae and localfalse claims acts, arising froalleged fraud and false claims orchestrate@bU¥C,
its affiliated companies, and the other Defendaltie Defendants have moved to dismiss, arguing,
inter alia, that the Courtackssubject matter jurisdiction over the federal False Claims Act claims,
asthey are barred by that Act’s pubticsclosure bar. Because the Court agrees with the Befen
ants, the Joint Motion to Dismiss shall be granted. Morebeeguse the Court declines to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over the state and local false claims act claims, tresaetl be ds-
missed in its entirety.

l. BACKGROUND
A. Factual History
1. The Failure of BankUnited FSB
BankUnited FSB (“BUFSB”) was a Mianribased savings and loan that was originally

established as a statbartered de novo institution (under the name United Savings Association)

" Named in the Second Amended Complaint as “Chase Loans, as Trustee, ENj@ge@brporation.”

8 Named in the Second Amended Complaint as “Wells Fargo Trustee, Strucssetddrtgage Investmss Il Inc.”

®  Wilmington Trust Company [ECF Nos. 229 & 231]; Wells Fargo and Wellgd-Belaware [ECF Nos. 230 &
232]; U.S. Bank [ECF Nos. 233 & 234]; PwC [ECF No. 235]; Clifford A. ZucksrPlan Administrator of the
Chapter 11 plan for BUFC [ECF No. 237]; BankUnited [ECF No. 242]; Carrington Mt&CR43]; BNY Mellon
[ECF No. 245]; JPMorgan, EMC, and SAMI |l [ECF No. 247]; Lopez and Ortiz [EGF249]; and Defendant
Christiana Trust, ®ivision of Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Trustee for SthnMiartgage Loan
Trust, Series 20129 [ECF No. 265].



in 1984. Compl. Ex. &R at 40 (Office of Inspector General, Dep’t of Treas@afety and Soudh
ness Material Loss Review of Bank United, FE®10)) (“OIG Report”). In 2000, the Federal
Reserve Bank decided to reduce interest rates for meipab&s to borrow funds to neaero
percent. Second Am. Compl. § 17. Following the Fed’s decision, the banking industry tbega
zealously and feverishly originate, securitize, and sell” option adjustatdenortgage loans
(“option ARM”). Id. 1 18; OIG Report at 40. An option ARM is an adjustabte mortgage with
several possible payment options; these optimally includg1l) paying an amount that covers
both principal and intereg) paying an amount that covers only interes{3dpaying a minimum
amount that doesot even cover interestVhat Is an Option or Paymefption ARM? Consumer
Fin. Prot. Bureau, http://www.consumerfinance.gov/askcfpb/102/isfaatoption-or-payment-
option-arm.html (last visited Jan. 6, 2017). In the third option, the unpaid interest is added to the
principal loan balanece-a process otherwise known asgative amortization.

Beginning in 2004BUFSBheavily increaseds emphasi®n option ARMs SeeOIG
Report at 40. In 2003, option ARMs had totaled only five percent of BUFSB’'s ddsat 41. By
March 2008, option ARMS totaldifty-one percent of its assets ($7.3 billion)d. at 42.At ther
peak, ninetyone percent of BUFSB’s option ARMs were negatively amortizedother words,
ninety-one percent of BUFSB’s borrowers had elected to make payments that wehamhetiset
monthly interest accimg on their loansd.

As with many banks in the United States during this period of tinese lending practices
soon became unsustainabide BUFSB.In Decembe2007, the federdaDffice of Thrift Supery
sion (“OTS”), following an examination of BUFSBoncluded that the level of problem resitign

loans in BUFSB’s portfolio was continuirtg increase rapidly, with no indication that it would

9 No exhibits are attached to the Second Amended Complaint; intiea@elators attached exhibits to the original
Complaint andeference those exhibits in the Second Amended Compldiatparties in their various briefs also
refer to those exhibits. The Court, therefore, will consider tholsibiescattached to the original Complaint as if
they were attached to the Second Amenderhplaint for purposes of this Order.



begin to subsiddd. at 41*

BUFSB discontinued producing option ARMs in May 20@B.at 42. Two months later,
the OTS expressed concern to BUFBUFSB’s holding company-about BUFC's ability to
continue to service its significant accumulated debt and to successfullg aapésl markets in
light of its significant asset quality issuéd. On Juy 24, 2008, the OTS issued a memorandum
of understanding to BUFC, requiring it to raise a minimum of $400 millehrat 40, 42. That
same day, the OT&8lsoissued a memorandum of understanding to BUFSB requiringirités,
alia, terminatats negativeamortization and reducetbcumentation lending progranid. at 42.

The OTS determined that BUFSB was in an unsafe and unsound condition due to the aeteriorat
in its portfolio of nontraditional mortgage loans, the concentration of risk iassdavith he
portfolio, and the resultant need for significant additional capital.

On August 4, 2008, OTS officialseld a conference call to discuss BUFS&atusand
the appropriate supervisory and enforcement resptohsat 4243. The officials also discussed
the willingness of BUFSB’s management to infuse capital from BUFC se# loss for the
guarter ending June 30, 2008. The OTS senior deputy director instructed thatsioa ofcapital
should be backdated to June 30, 2008, and that BUFSB should amend its thrift financial report
accordingly.ld. at 43. So, on August 11, 2008, BUFC filed For#K 8vith the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), which included a press release and examipatibe fuarter
ending June@ 2008.d. The8-K announced that BUFC “strengthened [BUFSB]'s capital ‘through
an $80 million capital contribution™in essence, reflecting the backdated capital contribution
that had been directdry the OTSsenior deputy directotd. On August 25, 2008BUFC filed a

Form 10Q with the SEC for the quarter ending June 30, 2@bfich also reflected the backdated

' The OTS no longer exists. After it was implicated in a backdating scandals imerged with the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Deposit Insurance Coiqaréte Federal Reserve BoardGivernors,
and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau througpabksagef the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 31203, 124 Stat. 1378223 (2010).



capital contribution, statinthat, effective June 30, 2008, BUH@d contributed $80 million in
additional capital to BUFSBd. at 44.

BUFSB'’s decline continued rapidly. While in July 2008, BUFSB had met the regulatory
standard for a weltapitalized designation (the highest capital classificattmnjanuary 30, 2009,
when BUFSB filed its thrift financial report for the quaréanding Decembe81, 2008, it met the
standard of “critically undercapitalizeg*the lowest capital classificatiohThe OTS sent a
prompt corrective actionotice regardin@UFSB’scritically undercapitalized status tioe board
of BUFSBon February 10th, requiring thdte institutionsubmit a capital restoration platd. at
46. That capital restoration plarsubmitted February 25timcluded an injection of $1 billion in
equity capital by March 31, 2009, and was contingent on sslaEsg agreement with the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or other government agency and thiegleeat of an
appropriate deal structurll. The OTS rejectetheplan because it relied on a government
assisted open bank transactitsh.

OnMarch 12, 2009, BUFSB notified the Federal National Mortgage Assatigifrannie
Mae”) that it would voluntarily terminate the mortgage selling and servicingaatriietween it
and Fannie Mae, effective April 1st of that yelar. Fannie Mae withdrew itentire mortgage
portfolio from BUFSRB allegedto be in excess of $6 billion in originated book value. Second Am.
Compl. 1 52.

On April 14, 2009the OTS issued a directivieatincluded the consent of BUFSB’s board
to the appointment of a conservator or receiver. OIG Report @@ élay 21, 2009, the OTS

closedBUFSB and appointed the FDIC as receivdr.

12 “There are five established capital classifications for Emsinancial institutions: weltapitalized, adequately dap
talized undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically wagetalized. PCA [prompt corrective
action] restricts the activities of institutions that are not-wapitalized.” OIG Report at 16 n.11.



2. The Relators’ Allegations

According to the allegations in the Second Amen@ethplaint,this actionhas its genesis
in foreclosure proceedings brought against the BeddityBUFSB. In mid-2003, the Relators
refinanced the first mortgage on their personal residence, l08205dBartorRoad in Pompano
Beach, Florida—a house they originally built with thetamt to sel—with First Union Bank (a
bank that was purchased by Wachovia Bank, which itself was later purchased byFar/gl
Bank).Second Am. Compl. 11 14, 3n. February 2004, they refinanced that first mortgage with
BUFSB, the new mortgage was aption ARM in the amount of approximately $nillion. Id.

1 15.After thehousing marketrashedn 2007 the Relators’ home became unmarketdblef 40.

In March 2009, BUFSB initiated foreclosure proceedings against theoRahathe Circuit Court
of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Flerjdat two monthdefore
the institution was seized by the OT8&. 1 36, 49, 81The foreclosureourt ruled in favor of
BUFSB, and, as of the filing of the Second Amended Compl&iatRelators were pursuing an
appealld. § 81.

The foreclosure litigation spurred the Relators to “conduct personal and privatégervest
tions” into allegations of misconduct by BUFSB and its affiliakesY 3(a)** Through these inve
tigations,the Relatorsllege thathey discovered a multitude of wrongdoings by BUFSB, ohclu
ing origination of wrongful mortgage income tax evasion; arfiing of false information with
the SEC, the OTS, the FDIC, and the Office of the Comptroller of the Cyrrieh§ 3(c). Addition-
ally, they allege thatafter being deceived by BankUnited's wholesale igege department;d.
1137, Stoneobtained a mortgage brokerage license smdsequenéemployment a{the now
defunc) BritestarFinancial Service @ritestar”)in Delray Beach, Florida, whictihey describe

as “one ofBankUnited’s Wholesale Mortgage Brokerage mempbeds § 5. They allegethat in

13 The Second Amended Complaint containe paragraphs numbered “3.”



the courseof that employmentStone“was able to personally withess how BankUnited and other
large banksvere wrongfully originating mortgages and engaging in reckless banking conduct.”
Id. 6.

As a result of their investigations, background knowledge and information, and Stone’s
employmentthe Relators allege that BUFSB, through its wholesale mortdgggtment and other
loan departments

marketed the origination of loans in an unlawful manner, paid mortgage brokerage

fees in an improper manner, condoned false advertising in connection thereto,

condoned deceptive sales practices, condoned deceptivendastvitch tactics,

condoned overcharging borrowers a higher interest rate than could have been

obtained in a traditional mortgage, compensated mortgage brokers based upon

productivity, not the underwriting quality of mortgages, compensated mortgage
brokes for insertion of prepayment penalties, etc., and engaged in endl&ss, rec

less, banking activities.

Id. § 113.The Relatoralsoallege that the United States government, as well as state and local
governments, financed the purchase of varioostgagebacked securitiésthat used the other
Defendant§ as trustees or servicers, but those governments were “deceived into puthasin
“fraudulent” mortgagebacked securitiewith missing or forged assignments, or without properly
negotiated or endorsed not&s. 11 120 21Q 217 Further, they clainthat the other Defendants
inter alia, “sold assets and failed to legally transfer mortgage pools in accordanceawgfet

[and] exchange protocol of relevant pooling and services agreemesatis!’ billions of dollars of

Fannie Mae government insured, guaranteed, originated mortgages, based epepfateat

14 “Mortgagebacked securities are debt obligations that represent claims to the casfrdtowmols of mortgage
loans, most commonly on residential property. Loans are purchasedtdrtm, mortgage companies, and other
originators and then assembled into pools by a governmentakgpasnmental, or private entity,” otherwise known
as a depositoMortgage Backed SecuritieSec. & Exchange Commission (July 23, 2010), https://www.sec.gov/
answerAmnortgagesecurities.htm. Tldepositor conveys the pooled loans to legal trusts set up for the purpose of
holding legal title to the loans, and, in exchange, receives ceagfitizat the depositor then sells to an underwriter
which the underwriter then sells to investess proces&nown as “securitization.” Joint Mot. at 8ge also
Greenwich Fin. Servs. Distressed Mortg. Fund 3 LLC v. Countrywide Fin. G&® F.3d 23, 25 (2d Cir. 2010).

The other Defendants, according to the Relators, are (1) trustees thatledramumbenf mortgagebacked
securitized trusts whose assets consisted solely of pools of resligentigages in Florida and elsewhere in the
United States and were to be acquired from BUFSB, or (2) variouftéfiaes” of BUFSB who aided and abetted
BUFSB’s wrongful conductSecond Am Compl] 103

15



tions, as to the quality of the mortgages sold into securitizatdhsrrowed billions of dollars
from the Federal Home LodMortgage] Corporation based upon false financial statemeati
“Instituted foreclosure actions using false and fabricated documésht§.122.

B. Procedural History

The Relators filed thigui tamactionunder seabn August 4, 2014ECF No. 1]. Inthe
Second Amended Complajritled January 21, 2016hey bring twentysix claims against the
Defendantsassertinghatthe Defendantsivrongful actionsviolate thefederalFalse Claims Agt
31 U.S.C. § 372383, andnumerousstate and local false claims acgeSecond Am. Compl.
19233-454.The Relators claiminter alia, that each of the mortgadpacked securities sold by
the Defendants to the U.S. Treasury or other governfoaded entityiolated state and federal
law because the Defendants provided manufactured mortgage assignmentsevalgfeatures,
as well as false representations that they held good title tndhgagebacked securitpssets,
in furtherance of “an effort to trafer impaired securities to the Treasurygl”{ 239. They also
claim that, in submitting claims in the salermbrtgagebacked securitie® the government or
governmenfunded entity, “each of the Defendants knowingly made, used|,] or caused to be made
or used[] false records or statements material to false or fraudulent claines Toetsury[] or
other U.S. government funded entity purchasimytgagebacked securitiesr being asked to
make a payment pursuant to a mortgage guararted.’247.

On May 5, 2015, aftereceiving a Notice of Election to Decline Intervention on behalf
of the United States of America and the States of California, Florideyidljiand Minnesota [ECF
No. 11], which also indicatethat the other states and cities namascarties in th€omplaint
either declined to intervene or expressed no intangsarticipating this Court ordered the @Go
plaint unsealed and served uptire Defendants by the Relatprgho now proceed individually

pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(ECF No. 12].The Relators filed the First Amended Complaint



on November 25, 2015 [ECF No. 137], and the Second Amended Complaint on January 21, 2016
[ECF No. 180].

On March 16, 2016he Defendants filed a Joint Motion to Dismikse Second Amended
Complaint, pursuant to both Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and 1Z@BE)No. 228].
Severalindividual Defendants have filed supplemental memorandarastins to dismiss on
various ground$ECF Nos. 22935, 237, 24243, 245, 247, 249 & 265hs permitted by the
Court [ECF No. 150]. These motions are now ripe for the Couavtigw.

Il. LEGAL STANDARD S

A motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction brought pursuant todr&ide
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) may present eithéa@al or a factual challenge to the complaBee
McEImurray v. Consol. Goy'601 F.3d 1244, 1251 (11th Cir. 2007). In a facial challenge, a court
is required only to determine if the plaintiff has “sufficiently alleged sisogor subject matter
jurisdiction.” Id. at 1251. Furthermore, “the court must consider the allegations in the plaintiff's
complaint as true.Williamson v. Tucke645 F.2d 404, 412 (5th Cir. 1981 By contrast, a factual
attack “challengels] ‘the existence of subject matter jigisnh in fact, irrespective of the pléa
ings, and matters outside the pleadings . . . are considdviElmurray, 501 F.3d at 1251 (qting
Lawrence v. Dunbam19 F.2d 1525, 1529 (11th Cir. 199@gcause the attack here is factual

thetrial court may proceed as it never could under 12(b)(6) or Fed. R. Civ. P. 56.

Because at issue in a factual 12(b)(1) motion is the trial court’s jurissiette

very power to hear the casehere is substantial authority that the trial court is free

to weigh the evidence and satisfy itself as to the existence of its power thvéear t

case. In short, no presumptive truthfulness attaches to [a] plaintiff saadag,

and the existence of disputed material facts will not preclude the trial court fro
evaluating for itself the merits of jurisdictional claims.

Williamson 645 F.2d at 4123 (quotingMortensen v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass549 F.2d

% The Eleventh Circuit has adopted as binding precedent all decisionsfofriter Fifth Circuit rendered before
October 1, 1981Bonner v. City of Prichard661 F.2d 1206, 1207 (11th Cir. 198&h bang.



884, 891 (3d Cir. 1977)). Additionally, in a factual attack, the plaintiff bears the burden to prove
facts stficient to establish subject matter jurisdicti®e OSI, Inc. v. United Staje85 F.3d047,
951 (11th Cir. 2002).

To survive a motion to dismiss brought pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), a claim “must contain
sufficient factual matter, accepted as truestate a claim to relief that is plausible on its face,”
meaning that it must contain “factual content that allows the court to draw thealglasoference
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct allegaskicroft v. Igbagl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quotingBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). While a court must accept well
pleaded factual allegations as true, “conclusory allegations . . . are nledetatian assumption
of truth—legal conclusions must be supported by fakallegations.’Randall v. Scoft610 F.3d
701, 70910 (11th Cir. 2010). “[T]he pleadings are construed broadlgyine v. World Fin.
Network Nat'l| Bank437 F.3d 1118, 1120 (11th Cir. 2006), and the allegations in the complaint
are viewed in the light ost favorable to the plaintifBishop v. Ross Earle & Bonan, P.817
F.3d 1268, 1270 (11th Cir. 201&ll in all, the question is not whether the claimant “williult
mately prevail . . . but whether his complaint [is] sufficient to crossetierél court’s threshold.”
Skinner v. Switzeb62 U.S. 521, 530 (2011).

[l DISCUSSION

A. Federal False Claims Act (Counts|1-V)

The False Claims Admposes civil liability on any individual (1) who knowinglyegsr
sents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment tatedeSthtes
government; (2) who knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, afatsere
statement material to a false claim; or (3) who conspires to commit such a wiaftle Act.

31 U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a)(1)(AfC). Under theAct's qui tamenforcement provisionga private person,

known as a relator, may bring an FCA suit on behalf of the governtdegt3730(b)(1) A relator

10



who initiates a meritoriougui tamsuit receives a percentage of the ultimate damages award, plus
attorney’sfees and costéd. § 3730(d).

“The FCA places a number of restrictions on suits by relat&tate Farm Fire & Cas.
Co. v. United States ex rel. Rigshi7 S. Ct. 436, 44(2016). Pertinently, “[the paragraph [of
the FCA] known as the ‘public disclosure bapfeventsqui tamactions if the allegations in
guestionin that actionwere publicly disclosedd.; see als81 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(AXheprou-
sion containing thepublic disclosure bar was amended by the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act, Pub. L. No. 11148, § 10104(j)(2), 124 Stat. 119, 9011@) butthoseamendmentslo
not apply retroactivelin casesn which the alleged conduct took place prior to the effective date
of the amendmemtsMarch 23, 2010United States ex rel. Saldivar v. Fresenius Med. Care
Holdings, Inc, 841 F.3d 927, 932 n.1 (11th Cir. 2016¢e also Schindler Elev. Corp. v. United
States ex teKirk, 563 U.S. 401, 404 n.1 (201GQraham Cnty. Soil & Water Conservation Dist. v.
United States ex rel. Wilspb59 U.S. 280, 283 n.1 (201@ecauseall of the Defendants’ alleged
conductin this case took place on or before May 21, 20@8n BUFSBwas seized bthe OTS
and handed over to the FDISeeSecond Am. Compl. Y 0, the Court’s public disclosure bar
analysis must proceeathder the law as it existed agttime.

Underthe pre2010 versiorof the statutethe provision containing the public disclosure
bar read:

No court shall have jurisdiction over an action under this section based upon the

public disclosure of allegations or transactions in a criminal, civil, or adnaitive

hearing, in a congressional, administrative, or GovernrAenounting Office

report, hearing, audit, or investigation, or from the news media, unless the action

is brought by the Attorney General or the person bringing the action is ambrig
source of the information.

31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(A) (2006). &htatute“ operate[s] as a jurisdictional limitatierthe publie

disclosure bar, if applicable, divest[s] the district court of sulmeatter jurisdiction over the

11



action.”United States ex rel. May v. Purdue Pharma L7B7 F.3d 908, 916 (4th Cir. 2018)ting,
e.g, Rockwell Int'l Corp. v. United States49 U.S. 457, 4689 (2007) (explaining that § 3730(e)(4)
is a “jurisdictiorremoving provision”)). Courts in thi€ircuit employ “a thregoart inquiry to
determine if jurisdiction existaunder the pulic disclosure bar: (1) have the allegations made by
the [relator]been publicly disclosed; (2) if so, is the disclosed information the batsis[oflator]'s
suit; (3) if yes, is thérelator] an‘original sourceof that information.”Saldivar, 841 F.3cdat 932-
33 (quotingCooper v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Fla., Jid® F.3d 562, 565 n.4 (11th Cir. 1994))
The Court addresseschprong of this inquiryin turn, bearing in mind that “[a] relator bears the
burden of proving that the public disclosure bar does not preclude his FCA adimied States
ex rel. May v. Purdue Pharma L,B11 F.3d 636, 640 (4th Cir. 2016).
1. Public Disclosure

In decidingwhether the allegations or transactions at issue were publicly disclbsed, t
Court “must consider whether the sources on which the [Relators] rely w@lthatstatute’s
enumerated categories of sources that are consigetgit.” United States ex rel. sheroff v.
Humana Inc.776 F3d 805, 812 (11th Cir. 2015). The three categories are (1) information disclosed
“in a criminal, civil, or administrative hearing”; (&)formation disclosed “in a congressional,
administrative, or Government Accounting Office report, hearing, audit, ortiga&ésn”; or
(3) information disclosetfrom the news media.31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(A).

In the Second Amended Complaint, the Relators state that the “numehthitsebtaired
by the Relators” and attached to the Second Amended Complaint “speak for therasdlearly
present indisputable facts and evidence of wrongful conduct, which has violated vartmrsse
of the U.S. False Claims Act.” Second Am. Compl. T 11. These exhibits irtbeidi@lowing:

First, Exhibit A is an Audit Report issued by the Treasury Department’sédfi Inspector

General (*OIG”), which “presents the results of [the OIG’s] materiad leview of the failure

12



of BankUnited, FSH], of Comal Gables, Florida, and of the @# of Thrift Supervision’s []
supervision of the institution.” OIG Repat 1. At least one of the Second Amended Complaint’s
allegations relies othe informationcontained thereirSeeSecond Am. Compl. 43 (statitigat

the OIG’s “report clearly points out the deficient, negligent, and deceptatorship between
[BUFSB] and its wholesale mortgage brokers, granting them wide distietsetting the inte

est rates in a manner that produced the greatest amount of fees to the broker amd thehm
absolute detriment of the borrowers/Relator¥his report is considered publicly disclosed i
formation.See Schindler Elewor Corp, 563 U.S. at 407-08.

Second, Exhibit F is a letter from BUFSB to Fannie Mae nelyag “Bank United, FSB’s
Voluntary Termination of Mortgage Selling and Servicing Contract with feaktae.” Compl.

Ex. F at 1. Several of the Second Amended Complaint’s allegations elthen tee information
contained thereior quote it directlySee e.g, Second Am. Compl. § 53 (“In paragraph 2 of
aforesaid letterfBUFSB] states that it ‘[ajJcknowledges and agrees that Fannie Mae had valid
and sufficient cause to terminate the Contract with cause as of March 12Fa00BUFSB] to
make aradmission against interest in this letter speaks volumes of their collestkless banking
conduct’). Thisfiling is publicly available through the SEC and is therefore publicly disclosed
information.

Third, Exhibit G is a NorProsecution Agreement beten the SEC and Fannie Mae signed
on December 13 and 15, 2011. Compl. Ex. G. At least one of the Second Amended Canplaint’
allegations reliesn the informatiorcontained thereirSeeSecond Am. Comp. 1 54 (“Fannie Mae
recently entered into a non prosecution [sic] agreement with the Departnderstioé for their
conduct in selling and securitizing mortgages with various lenders suBWESH . . . .”). This
is information disclosed in an administrative investigation and is thus publiclpsisil

Fourth, Exhibit J is a November 5, 2009, demand letter issued by counsel to the FDIC, as

13



Receiver for BUFSB, to several named former directors and officers of BU#3ch demands
payment of civil damages “based on the breach of duty, failure to supervise, neglayetioe
gross negligence of the named Directors and Officers in connection widknal loan transa
tions carried out by [BUFSB].” Compl. Ex. J at 2. Several of the Second Amended Guiaplai
allegations either rely othe informationcontained therein or quote it directyeeSecond Am.
Compl. § 80 (“The FDIC’s demand letter for damages, by FDICJ[']s counsel tlinesuhe Bank’s
unsafe and unsound business practices, breaches of fiduciary duty, negligence, andBlpr gr
negligent acts”), 1 207 (“The FDIC sent in a demand letter, [sic] to the Bae&tors & Corp-
rate Officers [sic] errors and insurance carriers. The FDIC larehclearly identified wrongful
conduct which has occasioned huge financial false claim losses to the U.S.A. atiekits.t);
see alsdf 80(aHo), 207(aHq). The electronically produced ECF banner appeaairtbe top

of each page of this letter clearly indicates that this documaspreviowsly produced in a civil
hearing—namely,the Court discoveredn BUFC’s bankruptcy proceedisgSeeMotion of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation to Enforce the Order Grantingydaield, Committee’s
Motion for DerivativeStanding to Investigate, Assert and Prosecute Claims Against Officers,
Directors and Prepetition Professionals, at Exhibibh2e BankUnited Fin. CorpNo. 0919940
(Bankr. S.D. Fla. Nov. 24, 2009), ECF No. 3Z3[D]ocuments filedwith the court . . . are public
disclosures under the FCA as part of a ‘civil hearingl¢Elmurray, 501 F.3d at 1252.

Fifth, Exhibit P is an adversary complamiso filedin BUFC's bankruptcy proceedings.
SeeCompl. Ex. P; Complaint for Recovery of Damag@#ficial Comm. of Unsecured Creditors
of BankUnited Fin. Corp. v. Camné@n re BankUnited Fin Corp, No. 0919940 (Bankr. S.D.
Fla. Dec. 5, 2011), ECF No. 985. At least one ofS8keond Amended Complaistallegations
relies on the information contained theredeeSecond Am. Compl. T 97 (“Following the sale of

the promissory note portfolio by the FDIC to BankUnited N.A., the FDIC wed By the unsecured
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creditors committee (which included many of tledeshdants named herein) for wrongful transfer
of assets in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in the Southern District of FIQtid&is court document
is a public disclosure&see McEImurray501 F.3d at 1252

Sixth, Exhibit Q is a stipulation and agreement of settlement filed in the BankUnitaed sec
ties litigation.SeeCompl. Ex. Q; Stipulation and Agreement of Settleminte BankUnited Sec.
Litig., No. 0822572 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 30, 2011), ECF No.-128everalof the Second Amended
Complaint’s allegationsely on the information contained thereBeeSecond Am. Compl. 1 98
99 (“[D]espite the FDIC having a priority claim in bankruptcy court fagxoess of available assets
for distribution, the FDIC settled this lawsuit for hundreds of millions of deldard a copy of
the recorded settlement agreement has been filed in the U.S. RBaddaalptcy Court . . . . Implicit
in this settlement is the fact that BankUnited orighgianortgages were sold based upon false
representations of all parties involved therein. False financial statemergscigarly used in
connection with these sales. All defendants/facilitators were engagead ootiduct, directly or
indirectly.”). This court document is a public disclosugze McEImurray501 F.3d at 1252.

And seventh, Exhibit R is a complaint filed in this District agaii®®t/FC. SeeCompl. Ex.
R; Complaint for Violation of the Federal Securities Law&terford Twp. Gen. Employees Ret.
Sys. v. BankUnited Fin. CorpgNo. 0822572 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 17, 2008), ECF No. 1. At least one
of the Second Amended Complaint’s allegations rely on the information contaimethiBee
Second Am. Compl. § 100 (“On or about September 16, 3808;C] was sued by Waterford
Township General Employees Retirement System for[,] among other ckemsity fraud via-
tions, false representations, etcThis court document is a public disclosusee McElmurray
501 F.3d at 1252.

Additionally, the Relatas statethat they obtained information through “requests [] made

under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act,” “requests [] made unedrrtth in Lending Act,”
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and “requests [] made under the Freedom of Information Astyell as “personal legal dis@yy
requests Id. 1 10.“A written agency response td=aeedom of Information Actequest falls within
the [FCA’s] ordinary meaning of ‘report,3chindler Eleator Corp., 563 U.S. at 4141, and thus
any information the Relators received as a result of those requiastsgives rise to the alleg
tions in the Second Amended Complamtonsidered publicly disclosed informatiddnd to
the extent the Relators received information via discovery requeatsrialsdisclosed through
discoveryalsoqualify as public disclosures under the FGACEImurray, 501 F.3d at 1253.

The Realtors also admit that they obtained “wrongfully endorsed notes from biee-
closures.”ld. T 3(g). These court documents, whether filed in state or federal acaipublic
disclosuresSee McEImurray501 F.3d at 125Zee alsdsheroff 776 F.3d at 813.

Finally, and most egregiously, tiielators’ SecondAmended Complaint contains par
phrased or verbatim recitations of over 190 paragraphsaiplaint filed in &alse Claims Act
suit in the U.S. District Court fahe District of South CarolingseeConsol. Third Am. Compl.,
United Stateex rel Szymoniak v. Am. Home Mortg. Servicing,,IN@. 10-1465 (D.S.C. Feb. 3,
2014), ECF No. 2565ee alsaloint Mot. Ex. 6 (Defendants’ sid®-side comparison of thalle-
gations contained in th®zymoniakhird amended complaint with the Relatocgrresponding
allegations in theiBecond Amended Complaint). Not only are these lifted paragcapissdered
public disclosures, but also, notably, the South Caralistrict court dismissedhe complaint
from which those paragraphs were lifteetausé ran afoulof the public disclosure baBee United
States ex rel. Szymoniak v. Am. Home Mortg. Servicing,Nioc.101465, 2014 WL 1910845
(D.S.C. May12, 2014).

Based on the above, the Court finds that the Second Amended Conmalaides alleg-

tions that have been publicly disclosed.
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2. Basis of the Relators’ Suit

In the second step of this inquiry, the Court must determine whether the disclosed info
mation forms the basis of thelators suit. “[T]he language of the FCA ‘is most naturallyace
to preclude suits based any part on publicly disclosed informationSaldivar, 841 F.3d at 934
(quotingCooper 19 F.3d at 567). Indeed, “this second prong of the inquiry is a ‘quick trigger to
get to the more exacting original source inquiryd” (quotingCooper 19 F.3d at 567xsee also
Battle v. Bd. of Regentd468 F.3d 755, 762 (11th Cir. 2006) (“[A] plaintiff basing an FCA qui
tam claim in any part on such publicly disclosed information must demonstrate tipéditiief
is an original sourcef that informaibn.”); accordUnited States ex rel. Vuyyuru v. Jadh&g5
F.3d337, 351 (4th Cir. 2009) (“Section 3730(e)(4)(A)’s public disclosure jurisdictionalnicame
passesctions even partly based upon prior public disclosures.”).

In their Motian, the Defendants argue that the Second Amended Complaint references go
ernment audit reports, publicly available filings with government ageranescourt documents,
which all qualify as public disclosures. Joint Mot. at 11. The Relators acknowleddeuthiisey
respond that “not one of the documents gejrtb a direct fraudulent scheme involving Deden
ants and BU[FB] to defraud the United States government” tirad“[a]t most, what these articles
provide are bits and pieces to different instances of wrong doing [sic] from Defgndat they
lack any logical connection to Relators’ claim.” Relators’ Opp’n at 12. Additigrtaey argue
that the “specific allegation of fraud as to BU[FBS],” namely, that BUFBSBAEC “created
an illusion and appearance of financial stability for many years foritgs bankruptcy filing[,] . . .
has never been publicly disclosettl” at 11. To that end, the Relators rely on a decision from the
D.C. Circuit,United States ex rel. Oliver v. Philip Morris USAIN763 F.3d 36 (D.C. Cir. 2014),
in which thatcourtrecountedts own prior interpretation of the public disclosure bidgt “Can-

gress sought to prohikigui tamactionsonly when either the allegation of fraud [] or the critical
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elements of the fraudeit transactions themses [] were in the public domainstuchthat “where
only one element of the fraudulent transaction is in the public domain [], the gplaentiff may
mount a case by coming forward with either the additional elements necesstatg ta case of
fraud [] or allegations of fraud itselflt. at 4341 (quotingUnited States ex rel. Springfield Terminal
Ry. Co. v. Quinnl4 F.3d 645, 6585 (D.C. Cir. 1994)). Based on this languag®iliver, the
Relators contend that they may “moantlaim” by “coming forward with the allegations of fraud”
that have heretofore never been alleged. Relators’ Opp’n at 11.

The Relators’ reliance o@liver (and the underlyin&pringfield Terminglin this instance
is misplacedThe Eleventh Circuit morbroadly interprets the term “public disclosure” than does
the D.C. Circuitln Osheroff a decision which postatesOliver, the Eleventh Circuiteaffirmed
that a relator “basing an FCA qui tam clamany part on . . . publicly disclosedformation mugd
demonstrate that the [relator] is the original source of that information.” 776F&d! (second
emphasis addedAnd in Cooper the decisiorwhich first established the thrgart standard in
this Circuitgoverning the public disclosure bar, ttaurt explained that “[a] court reaches thejori
inal source question only if it finds the plaintiff's suit is baseddormation publically disclosed.”
19 F.3d at 56%emphasis added)he standardoes not require each source to contain an allegation
of wrongdoing.“Indeed, 83730(e)(4) itself requires only disclosures of ‘allegationsrams-
actions,” suggesting that allegations of wrongdoing are not requi@dtieroff 776 F.3d at 814
(emphasis addedgo*“[t]hat the disclosed transactions themselves may not have pointed directly
to any wrongdoing is simply of no momen#*1 Ambulance Serv., Inc. v. California02 F.3d
1238, 1245 (9th Cir. 2000).

The Relators’ attempted appeal to the fact that “the federal government filegegight
separate complaints against eighteen [] different financial institytesmisthe great majority of

the allegations raised in such complaints were identical,” Relators’ OppaintoMot. at 13, is
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unavailing. As the SupreenCourt recently explained, “[tlhe FCA places a number of restrictions
on suits byrelators,” includingthe public disclosure baRigsby 137 S. Ct. at 440 (emphasis
added). This restriction does not apply to FCA suits filed by the govern®ee?l U.S.C.
8 3730(3)(4)(A) (2006) (“No court shall have jurisdiction over an action under this section based
upon the public disclosure of allegations or transactionsinless the action is brought by the
Attorney General or the person bringing the action is an original source of the information.”
(emphasis addel)

At bottom, &‘significant overlap between [a plaintiff]'s allegations and the publicaliscl
sures is sufficient to show that the disclosed information forms the basjg]datirsuit.” Osherdf,
776 F.3d at 814There isasignificant overlap here, given (1) the exhibits discussgulg (2) the
nearly two hundred paragraphs taken from a complaint filed in anotheiditigéd) other publicly
disclosed information; and (4) the Relators’ explicit and admitted reliance o), 1an¢ (3) in
drafting thér allegationsSee, e.g.Second Am. Compl.  10The facts and evidence collected
led to the Relators’ discovery of the systemic and pand&aid that has been perpetrated by all
of the Defendants.”). Based theredme Court easily finds that the publicly disclosed information
forms the basis of the Relators’ suit.

3. “Original Source”

“The third prong of the inquiry is whether [the Relators are] an ‘originaiceg allowing
for jurisdiction to exist even when the information has been discloSaddivar, 841 F.3d at
934.An “original source” is “an individual who has direct and independent krayel®f the
information on which the allegations are based and has voluntarily provided the infortoatio
the Government before filing under this section which is based on the information.” 31 U.S.C.
§83730(e)(4)(B) (2006)The Tenth Circuit’'sexplication of the prerequisites for a findingasiginal

source stats, cited with approval by the Eleventh CircuitSaldivar, is particularly instructive:
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Knowledge is “direct and independent” if it is “marked by [the] absence of an
intervening agency” and “unmediated by anything but [the relator’s] own efforts.”
United States ex rel. Fine v. MiRerguson Cq.99 F.3d 1538, 1547 (10th Cir. 1996)
(alterations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). “To establish ofigina
source gtus knowledge, qui tamplaintiff must allege specific factsas opposed

to mere conclusiorsshowing exactly how and when he or she obtained direct
and independent knowledge of the fraudulent acts alleged in the complaint and
support those allegations with competent prafited States ex rel. Hafter D.O.

v. Spectrum Emergency Care, Int90 F.3d 1156, 1162 (10th Cir. 1999). Seeond
hand information, speculation, background information, or collateral research do
not satisfy a relator’'s burden of establishing the requisite knowlédlges. 1162

63. “A relator’s ability to recognize the legal consequences of a publicly désiclos
fraudulent transaction does not alter the fact that the material elements iofdhe v
tion already have been publicly disclosetifiited States ex rel. Findley v. FPC
Boron Emps.’ Clup105 F.3d 675, 688 (D.C. Cir. 199@yerruled on other grounds

by Rockwell Int’l Corp. v. United State549 U.S. 457 (2007as recognized in
United States ex rel. Davis v. District of ColumiBa9F.3d 832 (D.C. Cir. 2012).

The fact that a relator has background information or unique expertise allowing
him to understand the significance of publicly disclosed allegations and transaction
is also insufficientUnited States ex rel. Stinson, Lyons, Gerlin & Bustamante, P.A.
v. Prudential Ins. C0.944 F.2d 1149, 1160 (3d Cir. 1991)).

Grynberg ex rel. United States v. Pac. Gas & Elec.(@ore Nat. Gas Royalties Qui Tam Lidig.
562 F.3d 1032, 1045 (10th Cir. 20Q@jtations altered)‘[A] plaintiff need not establish herself
asthe original source of the publicly disclosed information but must establish that aherig-

inal source of the information in that she had direct and independent knowledge of the ioformati
on which she idasing her FCA claim.Battle 468 F.3d at 762 (emphasis in original) (citation
omitted).

The Relators’ advance sevecaintentionsn support of the argumettiat they qualify as
original sources. The Court finds nongleémpersuasive.

First, theyassert that they “clearly have direct and independent knowledge of the info
mation on which the allegation[s] are based,” Relators’ Opp’n to Joint Mot. htuti#heyfail to
support this conclusory assertidrmoking to the allegations of the Second Amended Complaint,
the Relators detail their extensive background knowledge and experience. Bexyes #tlat she

is a former employee of Merrill Lynch who “has held numerous security[/fjcodity broker
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licenses,” has been “responsible for due diligence ouargees transactions,” “has an extensive
background on ‘backroom’ protocol,” who “personally spent more than 200 hours researching
BankUnited’s securities filings in the United States and in England’s statlaeges.” Second
Am. Compl. § 7Stone allegethat heis a former IRS agent, CPA, and tax lawyer, who “hasrexte
sive accounting and investigative skills and experient¢egs{’ 137.But this type ofselfdescribed
“backgroundknowledge,”which mayenable a relator to understand the significanceubficly
disclosed informationdoes not mean that the relator had knowledge independent of the publicly
disclosed information upon which his or her suit is based to qualify them agyarabsiource.
McEImurray, 501 F.3d at 1254ee also Osherqff 76 F.3d at 815 (stating that “backgroumicr-
mation that helps one understand or contextualize a public disclosure is insufligearittorginal
source status” undené pre2010 version of the FCABinson, Lyons, Gerlin & Buatante, 944
F.2d at1160 (“[T]he relator must possess substantive information about the pafiauthriether
than merely background information . . . Purthermore, “[klnowledge that is based research
into public records, review of publicly disclosed materials, or some combinatibesd tek-
niques” such as the research and review the Relators allege to have engagedaisdeiaes not
suffice.United States ex rel. Ondis v. City of Woonsqdk&T F.3d 49, 59 (1st Cir. 2009).
Second, e Relatorsontendthat they personally investigated, researched, and assembled
information that “established evidence of systemic and pandemic violations ofgimation of
mortgages and related actions.” Second Am. Compl. T¥(8JeA\s outlined above, however, the
Relators’Complaint is littered with public disclosures and publicly availatfiermation.A relator’s
personal investigation and research into public information that is “awattabhyone who wished
to use it for the same purpose” does not qualify the relator as an origineg $énited States ex
rel. Lewis vWalker, 438 F. App’x 885, 888 (11th Cir. 2011) (per curias®e also SaldivaB41

F.3d at 836 (“[T]o hold that merely reading a company’s quarterly reports gisetsknowledge
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to the underlying activity would be to create a large aperture, rendering the weat’ ‘o the
statute near meaningless.”).

Third, the Relators allege that “as a result of being involved in litigation,] [thene privy
to nonpublic information” Second Am. Compl. T 3(j), yet they provide no substanteito
what this nonpublic information is, where it came from, or what beafihgny—it has on their
claims.In United States ex rel. Brickman v. Businésgn Express, LLNo. 05-3147, 2007 WL
4553474, at *8 (N.D. Ga. Dec. 18, 2007), the relators claimed that they “sel/ieampublic inte
nal corporate documents . . . as part of their investigation into defendants’ fraadricluding
that the relators haabt met their burden to show that they were original sources, the court found
that they “d[id] not identify any facts that they obtained from the review of nonpulalierial.”
Id. Such is the case here. The Court will not consider the Relators origins@stased on a single,
unsupported allegation that they “were privy to nonpublic information.” Second Am. CHa&tp)
see also United States ex rel. Keeler v. Eisai, Ma. 0922302, 2013 WL 12049080, at *16 (S.D.
Fla. Feb. 1, 2013)[A] relator cannot segue into discovery simply by filing prolix but unsubstant
ated claims.”)aff'd, 568 F. App’x 783 (11th Cir. 2014) (per curiam).

Fourth, the Relators allege that Stone obtained informasaa result of his employment
with BritestarFinancial Services. Specifically, he contends that he

learned of the improper underwriting in the origination of mortgages, cooperation

of BankUnited Account Wholesale Mortgage Department, various mortgage orig

nationirregularities, destruction of taxecords, unverified stated income apalic

tions, fees paid to mortgage brokers for inserting prepayment penalties, non

businesslike mortgage qualification exceptions granted by BankUnited to fund a

loan, and improper conduct associated with the origination of mortgages by Bank
United . . ..

Second Am. Complf 137. As provided above, “[tjo establish origisalirce status knowledge,
aqui tamplaintiff must allege specific factsas opposed to mere conclusierghowing exactly

how and when he or she obtained direct and independent knowledge of the frauduldiegadts a

22



in the complaint and support those allegations with competent pgfiberg 562 F.3d at 1045
(quotingHafter D.O, 190 F.3d at 1162None of the allegations relating to Stone’s employment
with Britestarcontainsspecific facs. They do not describe how or when he obtaiaegalleged
direct or independent knowledge of the Defendanasidulent actsrather theysimply conclude
thathe obtained such knowledddoreover, 1 is undisputed that Relator Stone wasanemployee
of BUFBSor any of the other Defendants, but rather a nonparty mortgage broker. Thus-the all
gations the Relators providés-a-visthe informaion Stone “learned ofbver the course ahis
employment, Second Am. Compl. § 137, amounts to nothing more than secondhand information,
which the Eleventh Circuit recently heldimsufficient to grant original source statG&ge Saldivar
841 F.3d 936 (adopting the reasoning of several circuit€alecisions to this effectin Saldivar,
the court explained thaft] he phrase ‘direct and independent’ is most naturally read as creating a
extreme limit on secondhand knowledge that is sufficient to qualify as amabrsgpurce.”ld. As
a result,’[b]eing toldwhat another department is doing is almost serdy not direct knowledge
of that department’s behaviond. Extendingthat reasoningo this context, if being told what
another department within tleame company is doing does not qualify as direct knowledge of
that department’s behavior, thigrarning whaanother company is doing similarly fails to qualify.
The Courtfinds that Stonés allegation that he somehadtlearned’ of the Defendants’ conduct
throughhis employment wittBritestaris not direct knowledge of the Defendants’ condiitie
Court also refuses to accept the Relators’ conclusion, with nothing more, that fetaeseas
employed by Britestar, he was “an indirect employee, and[/]or agedeferidant, BaniJnited,”
Second Am. Compl. 1 39, which somehow grants him original source status.

Finally, the Relatorarguethat they are the original sources “of the information which
forms the basis of this qui tam action, namely, that defendantsiceoh$p present a picture to

the federal government of a solvent BUB;Sv]hen, in fact, the bank was clearly not financially
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stable.” Relators’ Opp’n to Joint Mot. at-1%. At the outset, the Court finds tleisgument hard
to believe when thRelators have attachaah exhibitto their Complainthatmakes a similar asse
tion about BUFSBSpecifically, n the OIG Report, the Office of Inspector General explained how
the OTS “inappropriately[] instructedUFSBto revise its Thrift Financial Reporated June
30, 2008,to reflect [a] backdated capital infusionJIG Report at 17The OlGalso noted that
although BUFSB “appeared to have met the regulatory minimum requirement -aclpiedlized
as of June 30, 2008,” it “was ordglequately capitalzed, not well-capitalized, at June 30, 2008,”
and“[b]y reporting its financial condition the way it did, [BUFSB] delayed [prompt ctiie
actior].” 1d. at 18(emphasis addedFurthermore, the Relatqrsn makingthis conclusion are
essentially claiming that thegre original sources because tliput the puzzle pieces togetHer,
S0 to speak, and “discovered,” based on their assembling of information, that the befenda
allegedconduct violated the False Claims Act. As Befendants correctly point oint their brief
the South Carolina federal coumtSzymoniakthe case whose complaint’s allegations theaRel
tors overwhelmingly adoptedgjected thisexact argument

Relator’s actual contribution is a legal theory of how false claims were submitted

to the government, due to Defendants’ questionable conduct. . . . The court finds

that legal theories-“the very connecting the déts-are not'knowledge of the

information on which the allegations are ba%eth individual is considered an

original source if she has direct and independent knowledge of the undéatysg

that give rise to the complaint. . . . Indeed, the court believes it to generally be th

province of lawyers and courts to create legal lesdrom a certain set of facts,
not the province ofjui tamrelators.

Szymoniak2014 WL 1910845, at *8; see alsA-1 Ambulance Seite, 202 F.3d at 1245 (“The
mere fact that [a relator]'s own expertise . . . enabled it to formulate it legal thery of fraud

is irrelevant to the question of whether the material transactions giving risealbetiped fraud
were already disclosed in the public domain in the first placehiis Court finds th&Szymoniak

court’s analysis on this point persuasiltewill not deemthe Relators original sources merely
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because they may be the fitetmake these particular claims of fraud againsséhgarticular
Defendantsvhen it is evident that they do not possess direct and independent knowledge of the
factsunderlying those claims$n sum the Court concludes that the Relators are not the “original
source” of the information upon which thé&deral False Claims Act clainase based

Because the Relators have failed to meet their burden to establish thatlibe&lisclosure
bar does not preclude their clairtigir federal claims artberefore barredAccordingly,the motion
to dismissCounts 1V of the Second Amended Complaistgranted.

B. State and Local False Claims Acts (Counts VI-XXVI)

What remains are the Relators’ claims brought pursuant to state and lacaldais acts.
“The doctrine of supplemental jurisdiction . . . permits ‘federal courts taleleertain statéaw
claims involved in cases raising federal questions’ when doing so woultb{argudicial economy
and procedural conveniencéineritox, Ltd. v. Millennium Labs., InG03 F.3d 518, 530 (11th
Cir. 2015) (quotingCcarnegieMellon Univ. v. Cohill 484 U.S. 343, 3489 (1988)). This doctrine,
codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1367, “grants éedl courts the power to exercise jurisdiction over claims
‘that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction thatdhaypart of
the same case or controversy under Article 11l of the Unite@sS@onstitution.”1d. at 531(quoting
28 U.S.C. § 1367(a)). While Section 1367 “mandates that district eeairteast initially—exercise
jurisdiction over those supplemental claims that satisfy the case or contreegugygment,’id.,
district courts have the authority to dismiss state law claims if “(1) the clains ersavel or cm-
plex issue of State law, (2) the claim substantially predominates over the ctdams over which
the district court has original jurisdiction, {B)e district court has dismissed all claims awérch
it has original jurisdiction, or (4) in exceptional circumstances, therether compelling reasons
for declining jurisdiction,” 28 U.S.C. §367(c).See also Parker v. Scrap Metal Processors, Inc.

468 F.3d 733, 743 (11th Cir. 2006) (“Any one of the section 1367(c) factors is sufficient to give
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the district court discretion to dismiss a case’s supplemental state law claims.”).

Because the Court has dismissed the federal False Claims Act claimbné&sdiecexercise
jurisdiction over the Relatst state law and locdhw claims, pursuant to Section 1367(c)(3)he
Eleventh Circuit has a stated policy in favor of dismissing state law claims theder circm-
stances.Clarke v. Two Is. Dev. CorpNo. 1521954, 2016 WL 659580, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 18,
2016);see alsdraney v. Allstate Ins. G870 F.3d 1086, 10889 (11th Cir. 2004) (“The decision
to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over pendant state claims rests withinciteti@hsof the
district court. We have encouraged district cotiot dismiss any remaining state claims when, as
here, the federal claims have been dismissed prior to trial.” (citatioteedhiaccord Cohill
484 U.S. at 351 (“When the single federal law claim in the action [is] elimiadtaad early stage
of the ltigation, the district court [has] a powerful reason to choose not to contrexetcise
jurisdiction.”); United Mine Workers of Am. v. Gihl#383 U.S. 715, 726 (1966) (“Certainly, if
the federal claims are dismissed before trial, . . . the state daimogd be dismissed as well.”).
Accordingly, e motion to dismis€ountsVI-XXVI of the Second Amended Complaist
granted"’

V. CONCLUSION

Generally “[a] dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is not a judgment en th
merits and is enteraslithout prejudice.” Stalley ex rel. United States v. Orlando Reg’l Healthcare
Sys., InG.524 F.3d 1229, 1232 (11th Cir. 2008) (emphasis addéd] said, the Eleventh Circuit
has affirmed the dismissal of a plaintiff's complanith prejudice where it agreed with the district

court that the plaintiff could not overcome the public disgte barSee Oseroff, 776 F.3d at 816

7 Given that the Court’s above analysis is dispositive of all of the Relaaims, it need not address any of the
arguments raised in the supplemental motions and memoranda.
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It is, therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows:

(1) the DefendantsJoint Motion to Dismiss Relators’ Second Amended Complaint
[ECF No. 228] iSGRANTED. Counts 4V of the Second Amended Complaint [ECF
No. 180]areDISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE . Counts VIXXVI of the Second
Amended Complaint a®®ISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE ; and

(2) the various Defendants’ supplemental motions to dismissapplemental meos
randa in support of motions to dismj&CF Nos. 229235, 237, 24243, 245, 247,
249 & 265]areDENIED AS MOOT .

This action iSCLOSED and all other pending motions &&NIED AS MOOT .

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, tHséth day ofJanuary2017.

oA

DARRIN P. GAYLES
UNITED STATES DI ICT JUDGE
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